# LABOR AGREEMENT

# **BETWEEN**

# INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS

# **AND**

APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC.

**JANUARY 2013** 

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE - CUSTOMER SERVICE	1
SCOPE	1
RULE 1 – CLASSIFICATION OF MACHINIST AND WORK	1
RULE 2 – RATES OF PAY AND PAY DAYS	1
RULE 3 – 401(K)	2
RULE 3 – 401(K)	2
RULE 5 - DAY'S WORK - WORK WEEK - NON-OPERATING EMPLOYEES	3
RULE 6 – MEAL PERIOD.	4
RULE 7 – STARTING TIME	4
RULE 8 - CHANGING STARTING TIME, REST DAYS, AND HEADQUARTER POINTS	
RULE 9 – OVERTIME	
RULE 10 - APPLICATIONS	6
RULE 11 – SENIORITY DATUM	
RULE 12 – SENIORITY DISTRICTS	
RULE 13 – SENIORITY ROSTER	
RULE 14 - WORK ASSIGNMENTS	
RULE 15 – BULLETINS	
RULE 16 – QUALIFYING	
RULE 17 – VACATION AND RELIEF ASSIGNMENTS	9
RULE 18 – SERVICE OUTSIDE OF REGULAR ASSIGNEMENTS	
RULE 19 – CHANGED DUTIES	
RULE 20 – REDUCING FORCES OR ABOLISHING POSITIONS	
RULE 21 - EXPENSES	.11
RULE 22 – LEAVE OF ABSENCE	.11
RULE 23 – LEAVE OF ABSENCE – EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES	.12
RULE 24 – RETURNING FROM LEAVE	.12
RULE 25 – ATTENDING COURT	.13
RULE 25 – ATTENDING COURT RULE 26 – JURY DUTY	.13
RULE 27 – HOLIDAYS	
RULE 28 – VACATION	
RULE 29 – HEALTH AND WELFARE	.17
RULE 30 – DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE	
RULE 31 – TIME LIMIT ON CLAIMS	
RULE 32 – DULY ACCREDITED REPRESENTATIVE	.19
RULE 33 – PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS	
RULE 34 – COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENTS	.20
RULE 35 – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	.23
RULE 36 – WAGE INCREASES	
EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	.24
APPENDIX 1 – MECHANICS PAY GRID	.25
APPENDIX 2 – UNION SHOP AGREEMENT	
APPENDIX 3 – UNION DUES DEDUCTION AGREEMENT	
APPENDIX 4 – PHYSICAL DISQUALIFICATION	
APPENDIX 5 – WAIVER OF HEARING	

APPENDIX 6 – QUESTIONS & ANSWERS REGARDING BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	38
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1	4
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 2	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 3	42
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 4	43
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 5	44
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 6	45
ATTACHMENT "A"	

#### **PREAMBLE**

#### CUSTOMER SERVICE

The parties to this Agreement agree that the fundamental objective of the railroad, its management and employees, is to provide service to its customers in the most efficient manner. Accordingly, the parties agree that in interpreting and implementing this Agreement, paramount emphasis shall be placed on providing efficient service to customers.

#### SCOPE

These rules shall constitute an agreement between the APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS & AEROSPACE WORKERS and shall govern the hours of service, working conditions and rates of pay of employees engaged in the work described in Appendix 1 and other employees who may subsequently be employed to do such work, represented by the INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS & AEROSPACE WORKERS.

### RULE 1 CLASSIFICATION OF SHOP CRAFT WORK

- (a) The positions covered by this Agreement on the effective date hereof are as set forth in Appendix 1 of this Agreement.
  - NOTE: Any new positions created after the effective date of this Agreement to perform the work covered hereby shall be covered by the provisions of this Agreement.
- (b) When a position covered by this Agreement is abolished, the work assigned to such position which remains to be performed will be reassigned pursuant to other positions covered by this Agreement.
- (c) Work covered by this Agreement shall not be removed from the application of the rules of this Agreement except by mutual agreement between the parties signatory hereto.
- (d) Other than cases of emergency or to expedite completion of work when a covered employee is not available, an officer or an employee not covered by this Agreement shall not be permitted to perform any work covered by this Agreement.
- (e) The use of such words as "he", "his", and "him", as they appear in this Agreement are not intended to restrict the application of the agreement or a particular rule to a particular sex, but are used solely for the purpose of grammatical convenience and clarity.

# RULE 2 RATES OF PAY AND PAY DAYS

(a) Rates of pay for all positions shall be as set out in Appendix 1.

(b) Employees shall be paid every other Friday. Should the payday fall on a legal holiday, the employee shall be paid on the preceding day or days. Vouchers for pay shortages equal to one (1) day or more shall be issued upon request.

### RULE 3 401(K)

- (a) APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. shall provide a 401(K) Plan for all employees covered under this Agreement.
- (b) APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. will be responsible for all costs of establishing the Plan. APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. will also be responsible for Plan administration, including the making of payroll deductions, the semimonthly payments to the designated trustee and all other in-house services normally provided by an employer in connection with the operation of a 401(K) Plan.
- (c) Trustee and investment fees will be covered by Trust Fund earnings. In the event trust earnings are not sufficient to cover cost, APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. will cover these costs. All other costs will be paid by APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC.
- (d) It is understood that the Carrier's basic annual contribution will be \$200 to each employee's personal account only if the employee contributes to the 401(K) plan the entire year. Employees who do not contribute due to medical reasons will be entitled to the payment, but employees off for discipline or because of a withdrawal of funds from the plan will not be entitled to the Carrier contribution. In addition, the Carrier will contribute 50 cents for every \$1.00 contribution made by the employee to the Plan for an additional maximum Carrier contribution of \$500. All contributions will be pre-tax, and the Carrier will match the employee's contribution on a pay day by pay day basis.
- (e) Details concerning eligibility, contributions, investment options, modification periods, and other provisions shall be outlined in the Plan Document.

# RULE 4 COPY OF AGREEMENT

The Carrier shall provide employees with a copy of this Agreement and amendments thereto without cost.

# RULE 5 DAY'S WORK – WORK WEEK – SHOP CRAFT EMPLOYEES

- (a) Eight consecutive hours for a five day a week assignment and ten consecutive hours for a four day a week assignment, exclusive of the meal period, shall constitute a day's work for which eight or ten hours' pay, respectively, will be allowed. Except as provided herein, no pay will be allowed for days not worked.
- (b) The work week for all employees subject to this Agreement will be forty (40) hours, consisting of either five (5) days or four (4) days with two (2) or three (3) consecutive days off in each seven (7). So far as practicable the days off shall be Saturday and Sunday or include either Saturday or Sunday. However, rest days may be changed when operational requirements dictate. This action will not be taken to avoid overtime. Subject to Rule 9, assignments will not consist of less than forty (40) hours per week.

#### (c) Regular Relief Assignments -

- (1) To the extent reasonably possible, regular relief assignments with five (5) days of work and two (2) consecutive rest days or four (4) days of work and three (3) consecutive rest days will be established to do the work necessary on rest days of regular assignments, or to perform relief work on certain days and such types of other work on other days as may be assigned under this Agreement. A bulletin shall designate the job relieved.
- (2) Assignments for regular relief positions may on different days include different starting times, duties and work locations for employees of the same class, provided they take the starting time, duties and work locations of the employee or employees whom they are relieving.

#### (d) Non-consecutive Rest Days -

The typical workweek is to be one with two (2) or three (3) consecutive days off. However, when customer service so requires, work weeks which may affect the consecutiveness of the rest days of positions or assignments may be adopted pursuant to the provisions of Rule 16.

The Company shall generally consider the following factors in determining non-consecutive rest days:

- (1) Regular relief positions established pursuant to Paragraph (c) of this rule.
- (2) Possible use of rest days other than Saturday and Sunday, in accordance with other provisions of this Agreement.
- (3) Other suitable or practicable plans which may be suggested.

Machinists	Agreement
Pag	ge 3

(e) Beginning of Workweek – The term "workweek" for regularly assigned employees shall mean a week beginning on the first day on which the assignment is bulletined to work, and for unassigned employees shall mean a period of seven (7) consecutive days starting with Monday.

NOTE: The expressions "positions" and "work" used in this rule refer to service, duties, or operations necessary to be performed the specified numbers of days per week and not to the workweek of individual employees.

### RULE 6 MEAL PERIOD

- (a) Unless otherwise agreed to by the Designated Carrier Officer and Local Chairman, the meal period shall not be less than twenty (20) minutes nor more than one (1) hour.
- (b) For operations determined to require continuous hours, eight (8) consecutive hours without meal period shall be assigned as constituting a day's work, in which case not less than twenty (20) minutes shall be allowed in which to eat, without deduction in pay, between the ending of the fourth hour and the beginning of the seventh hour after starting work.
- (c) When a meal period is allowed it shall be regularly assigned between the ending of the fourth hour and the beginning of the seventh hour after starting work, unless otherwise agreed to between the management and the duly accredited representative. If the meal period is not afforded within the assigned period and is worked, the meal period shall be paid for at the overtime rate and twenty (20) minutes with pay in which to eat shall be afforded at the first opportunity.
- (d) Except when otherwise instructed, an employee shall not be required to work more than three (3) hours overtime after completing eight (8) hours service, without being permitted thirty (30) minutes within which to eat without loss of time. If the employee is not accorded such meal period, he shall be allowed, in addition to actual time worked, thirty (30) minutes additional compensation at overtime rate.

### RULE 7 STARTING TIME

- (a) Where work is performed covering the twenty-four hour period, the starting time of each shift will be between the hours of six (6) and eight (8) AM., two (2) and four (4) PM, and ten (10) PM and Midnight.
- (b) It is agreed that at points where the requirements of service can be met in one or two eight (8) hour shift(s) per day, any of the three (3) shifts determined by the preceding requirements of this rule may be utilized.

(c) If the actual requirements of service are such that they cannot be reasonably met by the provisions of Paragraph (b), then one shift may be established based on the actual requirements of service. Where such a special shift is created, the Carrier shall advise the Local Chairman as to the reasons why such a shift must be established to meet actual and necessary requirements of service.

# RULE 8 CHANGING STARTING TIME, REST DAYS, AND HEADQUARTER POINTS

- (a) Regular assignments shall have a fixed starting time, rest days and headquarter points. The regular starting time, rest days and headquarter points shall not be changed without at least forty (40) hours advance written notice to the employees affected.
- (b) When the established starting time of any regular assignment is changed two hours or more, or one or both assigned rest days are changed, or headquarter point is changed the Company shall rebulletin the position. Employees affected may, within seven (7) days thereafter, and upon forty (40) hours advance written notice within such seven (7) day period, exercise seniority rights to any position held by a junior employee. An employee who fails to exercise seniority within the seven (7) day period, must then either displace the junior employee on the seniority roster or bid on a bulletin vacancy where such employee holds seniority. During this seven (7) day period, such employee will perform work as assigned. Other employees affected may exercise their seniority rights in accordance with Rule 20(b).

The seven (7) day period may be extended by reason of leave of absence or vacation, including the rest days during and following such vacation.

- (c) When the starting time of an established position is so changed as to convert from day hours to night hours, or vice versa, such change shall be deemed to constitute the abolishment of the position and the creation of a new position subject to bulletining in accordance with Rule 15. Starting times between 6:00 A.M. and 1:00 P.M. (both inclusive) are deemed day assignments; other starting times are deemed night assignments.
- (d) When a position is bulletined pursuant to Paragraph (c), the occupant will remain thereon until it is awarded. If not the successful applicant, he may exercise seniority in accordance with Rule 20(b). Other employees may exercise their seniority rights in the same manner.

# RULE 9 OVERTIME

(a) Time worked preceding or following and continuous with the regular work hours, shall be computed on the actual minute basis and paid for at time and one-half rates, with double time computed on actual minute basis after 16 continuous hours of work in a 24-hour period, computed from the time the continuous work period commences, with exception that all time during the employees' regular shift will be paid for at the pro rata rate.

- (b) There shall be no overtime on overtime.
- (c) No overtime hours shall be worked or permitted except by direction of the proper supervising official except in cases of emergency where advance authority is not obtainable.

# RULE 10 APPLICATIONS

- (a) Applications for newly hired employees shall be approved or disapproved within ninety (90) days worked after applicant begins work. If application is not disapproved within the ninety (90) day period, the application will be considered as having been approved.
- (b) An employee who has been accepted for employment in accordance with Paragraph (a) will not be terminated or disciplined for furnishing incorrect information or withholding information unless management determines that the information was of such a nature that the employee would not have been hired if the Company had had timely knowledge of it.

# RULE 11 SENIORITY DATUM

- (a) Seniority begins at the time the employee starts compensated service in a position covered by this Agreement.
- (b) Where two or more employees are assigned at the same time on the same day, they shall be ranked in the order of the date of birth with the older as senior.
- (c) Any employee covered by this Agreement, who is promoted to an official, supervisory, or excepted position may elect to retain and accumulate seniority within his craft or class represented by the Organization party to this Agreement so long as he continues to maintain his good standing membership with the Organization signatory hereto at the local lodge having jurisdiction at the location the promoted employee holds seniority. In the event an employee who has exercised this option is subsequently removed from such position by the Company (other than through dismissal for cause), he shall be entitled to displace any employee with less seniority in his craft or class on the seniority roster from which promoted, or bid on a bulletined vacancy.
- (d) If an employee is promoted and elects not to maintain his good standing membership with the Organization pursuant to the provisions of this rule and thirty (30) days written notice thereof is given to the Appalachian & Ohio Railroad designated officer by the duly authorized representative of the Organization party to this Agreement with a copy to the employee involved, and the employee does not establish a good standing membership in the Organization within said thirty (30) days, said employee's seniority in his craft or class shall cease to accumulate as of the last day of the last month in which he was a member in

good standing and he may not subsequently elect to again accumulate seniority unless he returns to a position in the ranks and becomes a member in good standing of the local lodge having jurisdiction where the employee holds seniority.

- (e) Seniority rights of employees to vacancies or new positions or to perform work covered by this Agreement shall be governed by these rules.
- (f) Employees voluntarily leaving service will forfeit all seniority and if they re-enter the service will be considered as new employees.
- (g) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, seniority rights of employees covered by these rules may be exercised only in case of vacancies, new positions, reduction of forces or memorandum of agreements between the parties signatory hereto covering special circumstances which in their judgment require such action.

# RULE 12 SENIORITY DISTRICTS

For the employees covered by this Agreement, the entire railroad shall constitute a single seniority district over which employees may exercise their seniority.

# RULE 13 SENIORITY ROSTER

- (a) A seniority roster showing name, occupation, location, seniority date, and date of birth of all employees within the seniority district will be posted within thirty (30) days following the effective date of this Agreement in places accessible to all employees affected. A copy of the roster will be provided to the Local and General Chairman at the time they are posted.
- (b) The rosters will be revised and posted in January of each year and will be open to protest (for errors associated with the new roster only) for a period of thirty (30) days from date of posting and upon presentation of proof of error by an employee, or his representative, such error shall be corrected.
- (c) The provision for annual revision and posted of seniority rosters shall not be construed to mean that the duly accredited representatives of the employees will be denied the right to request and receive a revised roster when reductions in force are contemplated or when, due to turn-over in forces, the annual roster does not furnish the information necessary to properly apply the provisions of this Agreement

# RULE 14 WORK ASSIGNMENTS

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Company shall have sole discretion to establish, change from time to time, and abolish work assignments.

# RULE 15 BULLETINS

- (a) All new positions and vacancies (except those of less than thirty (30) day's duration) shall be promptly bulletined in places accessible to all employees affected for a period of seven (7) working days. Such bulletin will show headquarter point, title and description of position, rate of pay, assigned hours of service, assigned meal period, and assigned rest days.
- (b) Employees desiring such position shall within seven (7) days of date of posting of the bulletin file their applications with the officer whose name is signed to the bulletin, sending copy to the Local Chairman. The senior applicant shall be placed on position within ten (10) days following expiration of the bulletin. A bulletin of assignment, designating the successful applicant, shall be posted for a period of five (5) calendar days at all places where the position was bulletined.
- (c) When more than one vacancy or new position exists at the same time, the employee shall have the right to bid on any or all, stating preference. Nothing in this rule shall be construed to prevent employees from bidding on any or all bulletined positions, irrespective of whether the position sought is of the same, greater or lesser remuneration.
- (d) When an employee bids for and is awarded a position, his former position, if not abolished, shall be declared vacant and bulletined immediately.
- (e) Bulletined positions may be filled temporarily pending an assignment. In the event no applications are received, the position may be filled by management by appointment of the junior qualified employee working at the location where the vacancy exists. The former job of the appointed employee shall remain available to such appointed employee unless such job is abolished pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement.

# RULE 16 QUALIFYING

(a) An employee who acquires a position through bidding or displacement rights and fails to qualify within fifteen (15) working days will be assigned by the Company for the succeeding five (5) work days. During this period, the employee may exercise displacement rights over junior employees. Each subsequently affected employee shall be afforded the same conditions. (b) Employees who acquire a position will be given full cooperation by supervisors and other employees in their efforts to qualify.

# RULE 17 VACATION AND RELIEF ASSIGNMENTS

- (a) The Company may establish regular assigned vacation relief positions as necessary for vacation relief or other relief work.
- (b) Bulletins in accordance with Rule 15 for regular assigned relief positions shall show territory included in the assignment (if applicable), headquarters point, and type of positions to be relieved. Starting time and rest days will be those of the position relieved. Employees holding relief assignments will not be required to fill vacancies more than thirty (30) miles from the headquarters point.

# RULE 18 SERVICE OUTSIDE OF REGULAR ASSIGNMENTS

- (a) Employees required to perform service on assigned work days of their regular work week not continuous with the regular work period shall be allowed a minimum of two (2) hours at the overtime rate of pay for two (2) hours work or less, and thereafter on a minute basis.
- (b) Employees required to perform service on their rest days shall be allowed a minimum of two (2) hours pay at the overtime rate for two (2) hours work or less, and thereafter on a minute basis.
- (c) Service rendered by employees on their assigned rest days relieving an employee assigned to such day shall be paid for at the rate of the position occupied or their regular rate, whichever is higher, with a minimum of eight (8) hours at the rate of time and one-half, unless released early at their own request, in which case they will be compensated under Paragraph (b) of this rule.
- (d) Employees required to perform services on Holidays will be allowed a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the overtime rate for four (4) hours worked or less and thereafter on a minute basis.
- (e) When a holiday falls on a work day of a regularly assigned employee and his position is worked, and is not combined with another position on the same shift, the regular employee is entitled to be used.

# RULE 19 CHANGED DUTIES

When the duties of any position are so changed that management determines that the occupant cannot perform them satisfactorily, the occupant shall be permitted ten (10) work days to exercise his seniority rights to a position held by a junior employee. This rule may only be invoked when

an employee's physical or mental condition (as verified by a medical doctor's report) becomes such that he can no longer perform his regular duties.

### RULE 20 REDUCING FORCES OR ABOLISHING POSITIONS

- (a) In reducing forces or abolishing positions, seniority rights shall govern. Except as provided in Paragraph (e) and (f) of this Rule, at least five (5) working days advance notice, following the date of notice, shall be given employees affected prior to reduction of forces or in abolishing positions. A copy of such notice shall also be posted on bulletin boards (copy furnished to each Local Chairman).
- (b) Employees whose positions are abolished may exercise their seniority rights over junior employees; other employees affected may exercise their seniority rights in the same manner. Employees whose positions are abolished or who are displaced, and whose seniority rights entitle them to a regular position, shall assert such rights within seven (7) days from the date actually affected. An employee who fails to exercise seniority within the seven (7) day period must then either displace the junior employee on the seniority roster or bid the bulletined vacancy where such employees hold seniority. Until the employee exercises his seniority he will perform work as assigned. Employees having insufficient seniority to displace other employees will be considered furloughed.
- (c) When forces are increased or vacancies occur, furloughed employees shall be required to return to service in the order of their seniority, except as otherwise provided in this rule. Such employees, when available, shall be given preference on a seniority basis to short vacancies and/or vacancies occasioned by the filling of positions pending assignment by bulletin, which are not filled by rearrangement of regular forces. When a bulletined new position or vacancy is not filled by an employee in service senior to a furloughed employee, the senior furloughed employee will be called to fill the position. The Local Chairman will be furnished a list of men to be restored to service. Furloughed employees failing to return to service within fifteen (15) calendar days after being notified (by certified mail or telegram sent to the last address given) unless proof of disability is furnished within said limits, shall forfeit all seniority and shall be considered resigned. The Carrier shall notify the General Chairman of any resignations.
- (d) Furloughed employees desiring to waive their right to return to service on temporary positions or vacancies of less than ninety (90) days may do so by filing written notice with the designated officer as defined above (with copy to the Local Chairman). Such waiver shall be irrevocable regarding the position offered. Employees will be allowed to assume a furloughed status in lieu of the exercising of seniority to a position more than thirty (30) normal route miles from the employees' headquarters point.
- (e) Employees desiring to avail themselves of this rule must, within five (5) calendar days from the date furloughed (last work day), file their names and addresses in writing with the designated officer and the Local Chairman, and advise them promptly of any change in

- address. The Carrier will include on the force reduction notice employee's responsibility to notify the Carrier of his name and address in writing.
- (f) Advance notice to employees shall not be required before abolishing positions under emergency conditions, such as flood, snow storm, hurricane, tornado, earthquake, fire or labor dispute other than as covered by Paragraph (g), provided such conditions affect Company's operations in whole or in part. Such abolishments will be confined solely to those work locations directly affected by any suspension of operations. If an employee works any portion of the day, he will be paid in accordance with existing rules. When the emergency ceases, all positions abolished must be re-established, with former occupants returned to their respective positions and said position need not be rebulletined. If the emergency conditions described herein terminate within seven (7) days, employees will be entitled to return to their former positions at their next usual starting time not less than six (6) hours after the emergency terminates; if the emergency conditions extend longer than seven (7) days, employees will be entitled to return to their former positions at their usual starting time within forty-eight (48) hours after the emergency terminates.
- (g) Advance notice to employees before positions are abolished shall not be required where any suspension of the Company's operations in whole or in part is due to a labor dispute between the Company and any of its employees.

# RULE 21 EXPENSES

- (a) Employees required to remain overnight at other than their regular headquarters will be allowed actual reasonable cost of meals and lodging. The Company may designate lodging and meal facilities.
- (b) An employee willing and authorized by management to use his automobile on company business shall be paid the current IRS mileage rate per actual highway mile.

#### RULE 22 LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- (a) An employee desiring to remain away from service for an extended period of time must obtain permission from his immediate supervisor. In case of injury or illness, leave of absence will be granted upon presentation of acceptable medical evidence.
- (b) When the requirements of the service permit, employees, on request, will be granted leave of absence not to exceed thirty (30) days. In cases of emergency or unusual circumstances, the Carrier may extend the leave period up to an additional sixty (60) days. Leave of absence in excess of ninety (90) days in any twelve (12) month period shall not be granted unless by agreement between the management and the duly accredited representatives of the employees except in case of injury or illness.

- (c) Except for employees in service for four (4) years or less with the U.S. Armed Forces, an employee who is absent on leave and who engages in other employment shall forfeit his seniority, unless special arrangements have been made between the management and the General Chairman.
- (d) An employee who fails to report for duty at the expiration of leave of absence shall forfeit his seniority rights, except when failure to report on time is the result of unavoidable delay, in which case the leave will be extended to include such delay.
- (e) Employees desiring to return from leave of absence before the expiration thereof shall be permitted to do so upon forty-eight (48) hours written advance notice to the designated officer with copy to the General Chairman.
- (f) An employee retired under the disability provisions of the Railroad Retirement Act shall retain seniority until he attains the full retirement age, but the position vacated by him upon his retirement will be bulletined for permanent appointment, unless abolished. Should he recover sufficiently to resume service prior to attaining the full retirement age, he shall be permitted to exercise seniority over junior employees.
- (g) An employee shall not absent himself from work for any cause without permission from his supervisor except in case of injury or illness or for unavoidable reasons when he shall notify his supervisor as soon as possible.

# RULE 23 LEAVE OF ABSENCE – EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

- (a) Duly accredited representatives employed exclusively by the Organization shall be granted leave of absence and may return to their former positions or exercise seniority rights within thirty (30) days after release from such employment.
- (b) Other duly accredited representatives of the employees shall be granted necessary time off.

### RULE 24 RETURNING FROM LEAVE

An employee returning after leave of absence shall return to his former position provided it has not been abolished or a senior employee has not exercised displacement rights thereon. Upon return or within seven (7) days thereafter, such employee may exercise seniority rights on any position bulletined during such absence. In the event the employee's former position has been abolished or a senior employee has exercised displacement rights thereon, the returning employee will be governed by the provision of Rule 20, and may displace a junior employee if such rights are asserted within ten (10) days after his return. Employees displaced by his return shall have the privilege of exercising seniority rights over junior employees in the same manner.

NOTE: This rule also applies to an employee reporting for duty after vacation, sickness, disability, suspension or after an absence for any other legitimate cause.

# RULE 25 ATTENDING COURT

- (a) Employees taken away from their regular assigned duties at the request of management to attend court or to appear as witnesses for the Carrier at investigations or hearings will be allowed compensation equal to what would have been earned had such interruption not taken place, and, in addition, actual necessary expenses while away from their headquarters.
- (b) Employees attending court or acting as witnesses for the Carrier at investigations or hearings outside of their assigned hours shall be paid for the time devoted to such attendance a minimum of four (4) hours pay for two (2) hours and forty (40) minutes or less, and at the time and one-half rate on a minute basis thereafter.
- (c) Furloughed employees will be allowed a day's pay for each day used as witnesses with a minimum of one day, based on the minimum rate of pay of the position last held and, in addition, necessary actual expenses.
- (d) In the event an employee is held away from home station on rest days or holidays, he shall be allowed a minimum of one day's pay at pro rata rates for each day so held.
- (e) Any fee or mileage allowance received by the employee from the court or other tribunal accrued shall be assigned to the Company or such amounts shall be deducted as provided under this Rule.
- (f) Active employees failing to attend court or to appear as witnesses for the Carrier at investigations or hearings if requested to do so may be subject to discipline.

#### RULE 26 JURY DUTY

When a regularly assigned employee is summoned for jury duty and is required to lose time from his assignment as a result thereof, he shall be paid for actual time lost with a maximum of a basic day's pay at the straight time rate of his position for each day lost less the amount allowed him for jury service for each such day, excepting allowances paid by the court for meals, lodging or transportation, subject to the following qualification requirements and limitations:

- 1. An employee must furnish the Carrier with a statement from the court of jury allowances paid and the days on which jury duty was performed.
- 2. The number of days for which jury duty pay shall be paid is limited to a maximum of sixty (60) days in any calendar year.
- 3. No jury duty pay will be allowed for any day as to which the employee is entitled to vacation or holiday pay.

- 4. Except as provided in Paragraph (5), an employee will not be required to work on his assignment on days on which jury duty:
  - (a) ends within four (4) hours of the start of his assignment, or
  - (b) is scheduled to begin during the hours of his assignment or within four (4) hours of the beginning or ending of his assignment.
- 5. On any day that an employee is released from jury duty and four (4) or more hours of his work assignment remain, he will immediately inform his supervisor and report for work if advised to do so.

### RULE 27 HOLIDAYS

(a) Subject to the qualifying requirements provided herein, each employee shall receive eight (8) hours (for five-day assignment) or ten (10) hours pay (for four-day assignment) at the pro rata rate for each of the following enumerated holidays:

New Year's Day	Thanksgiving Day
Memorial Day	Friday after Thanksgiving Day
Fourth of July	Christmas Eve
Labor Day	Christmas Day

(b) A regularly assigned employee shall qualify for the holiday pay if the employee performs at least six (6) hours of compensated service on the workdays immediately preceding and following such holiday or if the employee is not assigned to work but is available for service on such days. If the holiday falls on the last day of a regularly assigned employee's workweek, the first workday following his rest days shall be considered the workday immediately following. If the holiday falls on the first workday of his workweek, the last workday of the preceding workweek shall be considered the workday immediately preceding the holiday. These qualifications shall also apply to employees relieving regularly assigned employees. If a holiday occurs during an employee's vacation and the employee performs at least six (6) hours service on his regularly scheduled work days immediately preceding and following his vacation, the employee will receive holiday pay in addition to vacation pay.

All others for whom holiday pay is provided shall qualify for such pay if on the day preceding and the day following the holiday they satisfy one or the other of the following conditions:

(i) compensation for at least six (6) hours of service paid by the Carrier is credited; or

- (ii) such employee is available for service. An employee is considered available unless he lays off of his own accord or does not respond to a call for service pursuant to the rules of this Agreement.
- (iii) furloughed employee performed at least eleven (11) days compensated service during the thirty (30) days prior to the holiday.

NOTE: When any of the above holidays fall on Sunday, the day observed by the Nation shall be considered the holiday.  $_{\delta}$ 

# RULE 28 VACATION

(a) Qualifying employees will be entitled to vacation in accordance with the following schedule:

After one year's service	5	consecutive days
After two year's service	-10	consecutive days
After eight year's service	15	consecutive days
After seventeen year's service	20	consecutive days
After twenty-five year's service	25	consecutive days

An employee's vacation will not be extended by reason of any of the recognized holidays enumerated in Rule 27.

(b) Employees will be required to submit vacation requests before December 1 of each year.

When vacations are taken due regard consistent with requirements of the service shall be given to the desires and preferences of the employees in seniority order when fixing dates for their vacations. Vacations may be split in segments of not less than five (5) days. Representatives of the Company and the Organization will cooperate in assigning vacation days. All first choices for vacation will be granted in seniority order before second and subsequent choices will be considered. Subsequent choices for vacation will be granted in the same manner.

If an assigned vacation is to be advanced or deferred by management, the employee will be given as much advance notice as possible; not less than ten (10) days notice shall be given except when management determines that emergency conditions prevent such notice.

(c) Vacation payment to regularly, assigned employees will be calculated at the daily rate of such assignment. Other than regularly assigned employees will be paid on the basis of the average daily rate paid in the last pay period preceding the vacation in which service was performed.

If an employee cannot be released for vacation, he shall be paid the time and one-half rate for work performed during his vacation period in addition to his regular vacation pay.

- (d) Employees must perform one hundred twenty (120) days of compensated service in any year to qualify for vacation provided under Paragraph (a) above. Calendar days on which an employee is on vacation or is available for service and on which days he performs no service, not exceeding sixty (60) such days, will be included in the determination of qualification for vacation. Also, calendar days, not in excess of thirty (30), on which an employee is absent from or unable to perform service because of injury received on duty will be included. Furloughed employees are not considered available for service in the application of this rule.
- (e) Employees must perform one hundred twenty (120) days of compensated service in any year to qualify for benefits provided in Paragraph (a) above. Employees not performing one hundred twenty (120) days service will be granted vacation pro-rated in proportion to days of compensated service. (Example: Two years accumulated service, sixty (60) days of service in preceding year. Eligible for five (5) days vacation. Less than full days are dropped in the calculation.)
- (f) In the application of Paragraph (d), days on which an employee is absent due to his own illness or injury shall be counted as follows:

10 days maximum - under 3 years' service 20 days maximum - 3 to 14 years' service 30 days maximum - 15 or more years' service

- (g) Absences due to vacation shall not be considered as vacancies in applying the rules of this Agreement.
- (h) The vacation provided for in this Agreement shall be considered to have been earned when the employee has qualified under Paragraph (a) hereof. If an employee's employment status is terminated for any reason whatsoever, including but not limited to retirement, resignation, non-compliance with a union shop agreement, or failure to return after furlough he shall at the time of such termination be granted full vacation pay earned up to the time he leaves the service and the vacation for the succeeding year if the employee has qualified therefor under Paragraph (a). If an employee thus entitled to vacation or vacation pay shall die, the vacation pay earned and not received shall be paid to such beneficiary as may have been designated, or in the absence of such designation, the surviving spouse or children or his estate, in that order of preference.
- (i) Former employees of the CSX who entered service of Appalachian and Ohio Railroad, Inc. on start of operations shall be given credit for CSX service in applying all provisions under this Rule.

# RULE 29 HEALTH AND WELFARE

- (a) The Carrier shall provide employees and their eligible dependents the level of hospital, surgical, medical, prescription, life and dental benefits, as provided by the Carrier's current summary plan description subject to the levels listed on Attachment "A".
- (b) For off-duty illness or injury occurring, the Carrier shall provide Supplemental Sickness Benefits in conjunction with the Railroad Retirement Sickness Benefits of \$43.00 per, day, up to a maximum of 52 weeks for each disability.

Effective January 1, 2013, the Supplemental Sickness Benefit in (b) above will be increased to \$66.00 per day.

# RULE 30 DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

- (a) Employees shall not be disciplined or dismissed until after a fair and impartial investigation, unless they shall accept discipline to be assessed (other than dismissal) in writing and waive formal investigation. Employees may, however, in cases management determines to be serious (such as use of intoxicants, misappropriation of Company property, insubordination, or vicious conduct) be held out of service pending such investigation.
- (b) An employee charged with an offense shall be furnished with a letter stating the precise charge or charges against him. No charge shall be made that involves any matter of which the employing officer has had knowledge thirty (30) days or more, except that in cases where an employee is subject to trial in the courts, the employing officer may, if he elects, withhold making a charge on the offense for which the employee is tried until not more than thirty days after the Carrier's knowledge of the Court's determination of the employee's innocence or guilt.
- (c) The investigation shall be held within ten (10) days from the date of the notice of the alleged offense, unless additional time is requested by the Company, employee or his representative. A decision will be rendered within ten (10) days after completion of the investigation.
- (d) Investigations shall be held when possible at home terminal of the employee involved, unless otherwise agreed between representatives of the parties. Employees shall have reasonable opportunity to secure the presence of representatives and/or necessary witnesses.
- (e) Employees may be accompanied by one or more duly accredited representatives of the Organization, who shall be permitted to be present during the entire investigation and examine and cross-examine witnesses to develop facts pertinent to the case. Duly

- accredited representatives accompanying an employee not to exceed two (2) persons shall not sustain a loss of pay for assisting the employee provided the investigation is held at the work location of the representative.
- (f) If disciplinary action is taken, a record of the evidence taken at the investigation will be furnished to the employee and his duly accredited representative. Appeals from the decision may be made in accordance with the provisions of Rule 31, except that six (6) months shall apply instead of the nine (9) month period.
- (g) If charges against the employee are not sustained, they shall be stricken from the records. If withheld from service, suspended or discharged, the employee shall be returned to service with seniority unimpaired and paid for all wage loss and benefits. Such compensated service will be counted as qualifying days under Rules 27, 28, and 33 herein.

# RULE 31 TIME LIMIT ON CLAIMS

- (a) All claims or grievances must be presented in writing by or on behalf of the employee involved to the officer of the Carrier authorized to receive same within sixty (60) days from the date of the occurrence on which the claim or grievance is based. Should any such claim or grievance be disallowed, the Company shall within sixty (60) days from the date same is filed notify whoever filed the claim or grievance (the employee or his duly accredited representative) in writing of the reasons for such disallowance. If not so notified, the claim or grievance shall be allowed as presented, but this shall not be considered as a precedent or waiver of the contentions of the Company as to other similar claims or grievances.
- (b) If a disallowed claim or grievance is to be appealed, such appeal must be in writing and must be taken within sixty (60) days from receipt of notice of disallowance, and the representative of the Company shall be notified in writing within that time of the rejection of his decision. Failing to comply with this provision, the matter shall be considered closed, but this shall not be considered as a precedent or waiver of the contentions of the employee as to other similar claims or grievances. It is understood, however, that the parties may, by agreement, at any stage of the handling of a claim or grievance on the property, extend the sixty (60) day period for either a decision or appeal, up to and including the highest officer of the Company designated for that purpose.
- (c) The requirements outlined in Paragraphs (a) and (b), pertaining to appeal by the employee and decision by the Carrier, shall govern in appeals taken to each succeeding officer, except in cases of appeal from the decision of the highest officer designated by the Company to handle such disputes. All claims or grievances involved in a decision by the highest designated officer shall be barred unless within six (6) months from the date of said officer's decision, proceedings are instituted by the employee or his duly authorized representative before the appropriate division of the National Railroad Adjustment Board or a system, group or regional board of adjustment that has been agreed to by the parties hereto as provided in Section 3 Second of the Railway Labor Act. It is understood,

however, that the parties may by agreement in any particular case extend the six (6) months period herein referred to.

- (d) A claim may be filed at any time for an alleged continuing violation of any agreement and all rights of the claimant or claimants involved thereby shall, under this rule, be fully protected by the filing of one claim or grievance based thereon as long as such alleged violation, if found to be such, continues. However, no monetary claim shall be allowed retroactively for more than thirty (30) days prior to the filing thereof. With respect to claims and grievances involving an employee held out of service in discipline cases, the original notice of request for reinstatement with pay for time lost shall be sufficient.
- (e) This rule recognizes the right of representatives of the Brotherhood to file and prosecute claims and grievances for and on behalf of the employees it represents.
- (f) This Agreement is not intended to deny the right of the employees to use any other lawful action for the settlement of claims or grievances provided such action is instituted within nine (9) months of the date of the decision of the highest designated officer of the Company.
- (g) Discipline imposed and agreed to in accordance with Rule 30(a) regarding waiver shall be final with no right of appeal.
- (h) This rule shall not apply to requests for leniency.
- (i) Grievances and appeals will be submitted to the designated officer.

### RULE 32 DULY ACCREDITED REPRESENTATIVE

Where the term "duly accredited representative" appears in this Agreement, it shall be understood to mean the regularly constituted committee and/or the officers of the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers of which such committee or officers is a part.

# RULE 33 PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS

- (a) The Carrier shall provide each employee four (4) paid personal leave days in each calendar year at the daily pro rata rate of the last service performed.
- (b) Personal leave day or days may be taken upon forty-eight (48) hours advance notice to the designated officer of the Carrier, subject to availability of extra employees. If employees are not permitted to take one or more personal leave days during the calendar year, each such day shall be paid at the daily pro rata rate within the month of January of the following year.

- (c) Personal leave days granted herein must be taken within the calendar year such day or days are earned.
- (d) Employees taking personal leave days will not thereby be disqualified for holiday pay.
- (e) It is understood that the Company may blank positions when incumbents take personal leave days.
- (f) Seniority shall govern in the application of this rule at the points involved.

# RULE 34 COST-OF-LIVING ADJUSTMENTS (Suspended until July 1, 2017)

Cost-of-Living Allowance and Adjustments Thereto After July 1, 2017

### Part 1 - Cost-of-Living Allowance and Effective Dates of Adjustments

(a) A cost-of-living allowance shall be payable in the manner set forth in and subject to the provisions of this Part, on the basis of the "Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers (Revised Series) (CPI-W)" (1967=100), U.S. Index, all items - unadjusted, as published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, and hereinafter referred to as the CPI. The first such cost-of-living allowance shall be payable effective January 1, 2018 based, subject to Paragraph (d), on the CPI for March 2017 as compared with the CPI for September 2017. Such allowance, and further cost-of-living adjustments thereto which shall become effective as described below, shall be based on the change in the CPI during the respective measurement periods shown in the following table, subject to the exception provided in Paragraph (d)(iii), according to the formula set forth in Paragraph (e).

	Measurement Periods	•
Base Month	Measurement Month	Effective Date of Adjustment
March 2017 September 2018	September 2017 March 2018	January 1, 2018 July 1, 2018

Measurement Periods and Effective Dates conforming to the above schedule shall be applicable to periods subsequent to those specified above during which this Article is in effect.

(b) While a cost-of-living allowance is in effect, such cost-of-living allowance shall apply to all compensation received under this agreement.

Machinists	Agreement
Pag	e 20

- (c) The amount of the cost-of-living allowance, if any, that shall be effective from one adjustment date to the next may be equal to, or greater or less than, the cost-of-living allowance in effect in the preceding adjustment period.
- (d) (i) <u>Cap.</u> In calculations under Paragraph (e), the maximum increase in the CPI that shall be taken into account shall be as follows:

Effective Date of Adjustment January 1, 2018 July 1, 2018 Maximum CPI Increase That
May Be Taken Into Account
3% of September 2017 CPI
6% of September 2017 CPI,
less the increase from
September 2016 to March 2018

Effective Dates of Adjustment and Maximum CPI Increases conforming to the above schedule shall be applicable to periods subsequent to those specified above during which this Article is in effect.

- (ii) <u>Limitation</u>. In calculations under Paragraph (e), only fifty (50) percent of the increase in the CPI in any measurement period shall be considered.
- (iii) If the increase in the CPI from the base month of September 2017 to the measurement month of March 2018 exceeds 3% of the September 2016 base index, the measurement period that shall be used for determining the cost-of-living adjustment to be effective the following January shall be the 12-month period from such base month of September; the increase in the index that shall be taken into account shall be limited to that portion of the increase that is in excess of 3% of such September base index; and the maximum increase in that portion of the index that may be taken into account shall be 6% of such September base index less the 3% mentioned in the preceding clause, to which shall be added any residual tenths of points which had been dropped under Paragraph (e) below in calculation of the cost-of-living adjustment which shall have become effective January 1, 2018 during such measurement period.
- (iv) Any increase in the CPI from the base month of September 2017 to the measurement month of September 2009 in excess of 6% of the September 2016 base index shall not be taken into account in the determination of subsequent cost-of-living adjustments.
- (v) The procedure specified in Subparagraphs (iii) and (iv) shall be applicable to all subsequent periods during which this Article is in effect.
- (e) <u>Formula.</u> The number of points change in the CPI during a measurement period, as limited by Paragraph (d), shall be converted into cents on the basis of one cent equals 0.3 full points. (By "0.3 full points" it is intended that any remainder of 0.1 point or 0.2 point of change after the conversion shall not be counted.)

The cost-of-living allowance in effect on June 30, 2018 shall be adjusted (increased or decreased) effective July 1, 2018 by the whole number of cents produced by dividing by 0.3 the number of points (including tenths of points) change, as limited by paragraph (d), in the CPI during the applicable measurement period. Any residual tenths of a point resulting from such division shall be dropped. The result of such division shall be added to the amount of the cost-of-living allowance in effect on June 30, 2018 if the CPI shall have been higher at the end than at the beginning of the measurement period, and subtracted therefrom only if the index shall have been lower at the end than at the beginning of the measurement period and then, only, to the extent that the allowance remains at zero or above. The same procedure shall be followed in applying subsequent adjustments.

(f) Continuance of the cost-of-living allowance and the adjustments thereto provided herein is dependent upon the availability of the official monthly BLS Consumer Price Index (CPI-W) calculated on the same basis as such Index, except that, if the Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor should, during the effective period of this Article, revise or change the methods or basic data used in calculating such Index in such a way as to affect the direct comparability of such revised or changed index with the CPI-W during a measurement period, then that Bureau shall be requested to furnish a conversion factor designed to adjust the newly revised index to the basis of the CPI-W during such measurement period.

#### Part 2 - Payment of Cost-of-Living Allowances

- (a) The cost-of-living allowance that becomes effective January 1, 2018 shall be payable to each employee commencing on that date.
- (b) The increase in the cost-of-living allowance effective July 1, 2018 pursuant to Section 1 of this Part shall be payable to each employee commencing on that date.
- (c) The increase in the cost-of-living allowance effective January 1, 2019 pursuant to Section 1 of this Part shall be payable to each employee commencing on that date.
- (d) The procedure specified in Paragraphs (b) and (c) shall be followed with respect to computation of the cost-of-living allowances payable in subsequent years during which this Article is in effect.
- (e) In making calculations under this Section, fractions of a cent shall be rounded to the nearest whole cent; fractions less than one-half cent shall be dropped and fractions of one-half cent or more shall be increased to the nearest full cent.
- (f) The cost-of-living allowance provided for herein will not become part of basic rates of pay.

# Part 3 - Application of Cost-of-Living Allowances

The cost-of-living allowance provided for above will be payable and applied as follows:

- (a) <u>Hourly Rates</u> Add the amount of the cost-of-living allowance to the hourly rate of pay produced by application of Part 1.
- (b) <u>Application of Wage Increases</u> The increase in wages produced by application of the cost-of-living allowances shall be applied in accordance with the wage or working conditions agreement in effect between the Appalachian and Ohio Railroad Inc. and its employees represented by the IAMAW. Special allowances not included in said rates and arbitraries representing duplicate time payments will not be increased.

#### RULE 35 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

Bereavement leave, not in excess of three (3) calendar days, following the date of death will be allowed in case of death of an employee's brother, sister, parent, step-parent, child, stepchild, spouse, grandparent or spouse's parent. In such cases a minimum basic day's pay at the rate of the last service rendered will be allowed for the number of working days lost during bereavement leave. Employees involved will make provision for taking leave with their supervising officials in the usual manner. Questions and answers applicable to this rule are attached as Appendix 6.

### RULE 36 WAGE INCREASES

The basic hourly rates of pay on the effective date of this agreement and as increased will be as reflected in Appendix 1.

### EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- (a) This Agreement shall remain in effect until and unless changed under the provisions of the Railway Labor Act, as amended, or by mutual consent of parties signatory hereto.
- (b) The parties signatory hereto shall not serve nor progress prior to January 1, 2017 (not to become effective prior to July 1, 2017), any notice or proposal for changing any provision contained herein.
- (c) The provisions under Paragraph (b) above shall not bar the Carrier and Organization from agreeing upon any subject of mutual interest.

This Agreement is entered into this the  $\frac{25}{4}$  day of  $\frac{13}{4}$ .

FOR THE ORGANIZATION:

FOR THE CARRIER:

J. Michael Perry, General Chairman

G. I. James, VP Operations

#### APPENDIX 1

#### **Mechanics Pay Rates**

	07/01/2012	01/01/13	01/01/14	01/01/15	01/01/16
Mechanic	\$18.03	\$18.57	\$19.12	\$19.70	\$20.29
% incr.	3.0%	3.0%	3.0%	3.0%	3.0%

Subject to Rule 1(d) and Letter of Understanding No. 3, only a mechanic represented by the IAMAW shall perform mechanical inspections, maintenance and repairs of locomotives, engines, freight cars, shop equipment, machinery, hoists and cranes (including the operation of oxyacetylene, thermal and electrical welding equipment and other metal-working machines), electrical repairs, maintenance, installation, wiring and inspection of locomotives, except where there is insufficient work to justify the creation of a full-time mechanic's position. Mechanics may also be assigned to any other work they have the capacity to perform.

Newly hired employees who are Mechanics will be paid at the lowest Mechanic's rate under the above table. Newly hired Apprentices will be paid at 90% of the lowest Mechanic's rate.

Qualified welders (as determined by management) will be paid a \$1.00 per hour differential. The differential will not be subject to overtime.

#### **APPENDIX 2**

#### UNION SHOP AGREEMENT

#### Section 1.

In accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, all employees of the Carrier now or hereafter subject to the Rules and Working Conditions Agreements between the parties hereto, except as hereinafter provided, shall, as a condition of their continued employment subject to such agreements, become members of the Organization party to this Agreement within sixty (60) calendar days of the date they first perform compensated service as such employees after the effective date of this Agreement, and thereafter shall maintain membership in such Organization; except that such membership shall not be required of any individual until he has performed compensated service on thirty (30) days within a period of twelve (12) consecutive calendar months. Nothing in this Agreement shall alter, enlarge or otherwise change the coverage of the present or future rules and working conditions agreements.

#### Section 2.

(Not Applicable)

#### Section 3.

- (a) Employees who retain seniority under the Rules and Working Conditions Agreements governing their class or craft and who are regularly assigned or transferred to full time employment not covered by such agreements, or who, for a period of thirty (30) days or more, are (1) furloughed on account of force reduction, or (2) on leave of absence, or (3) absent on account of sickness or disability, will not be required to maintain membership as provided in Section 1 of this Agreement so long as they remain in such other employment or furloughed or absent as herein provided, but they may do so at their option. Should such employees return to any service covered by the said Rules and Working Conditions Agreements and continue therein thirty (30) calendar days or more, irrespective of the number of days actually worked during that period, they shall, as a condition of their continued employment subject to such agreements, be required to become and remain members of the Organization representing their class or craft within thirty-five (35) calendar days from date of their return to such service.
- (b) The seniority status and rights of employees furloughed to serve in the Armed Forces or granted leaves of absence to engage in studies under an educational aid program sponsored by the federal government or a state government for the benefit of ex-servicemen shall not be terminated by reason of any of the provisions of this Agreement but such employees shall, upon resumption of employment, be considered as new employees for the purposes of applying this Agreement.
- (c) Employees who retain seniority under the Rules and Working Conditions Agreements governing their class or craft and who, for reasons other than those specified in Subsections

- (a) and (b) of this section are not in service covered by such agreements, or leave such service, will not be required to maintain membership as provided in Section 1 of this Agreement so long as they are not in service covered by such agreements, but they may do so at their option. Should such employees return to any service covered by the said Rules and Working Conditions Agreements they shall, as a condition of their continued employment, be required, from the date of return to such service, to become and remain members in the Organization representing their class or craft.
- (d) Employees who retain seniority under the Rules and Working Conditions Agreements of their class or craft, who are members of an Organization signatory hereto representing Working Conditions Agreement of that class or craft temporarily perform work in another class of service shall not be required to be members of another Organization party hereto whose agreement covers the other class of service until the date the employees hold regularly assigned positions within the scope of the Agreement covering such other class of service.

#### Section 4.

Nothing in this Agreement shall require an employee to become or to remain a member of the Organization if such membership is not available to such employee upon the same terms and conditions as are generally applicable to any other member, or if the membership of such employee is denied or terminated for any reason other than the failure of the employee to tender the periodic dues, initiation fees, and assessments (not including fines and penalties) uniformly required as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership. For purposes of this Agreement, dues, fees, and assessments, shall be deemed to be "uniformly required" if they are required of all employees in the same status at the same time in the same organizational unit.

#### Section 5.

(a) Each employee covered by the provisions of this Agreement shall be considered by a Carrier to have met the requirements of the Agreement unless and until the Carrier is advised to the contrary in writing by the Organization. The Organization will notify the Carrier in writing by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or by personal delivery evidenced by receipt, of any employee who it is alleged has failed to comply with the terms of this Agreement and who the Organization therefore claims is not entitled to continue in employment subject to the rules and working conditions Agreement. The form of notice to be used shall be agreed upon by the Carrier and the organizations involved and the form shall make provision for specifying the reasons for the allegation of non-compliance. Upon receipt of such notice, the Carrier will within ten (10) calendar days of such receipt, so notify the employee concerned in writing by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or by personal delivery evidenced by receipt. Copy of such notice to the employee shall be given the Organization. An employee so notified who disputes the fact that he has failed to comply with the terms of this Agreement, shall within a period of ten (10) calendar days from the date of receipt of such notice, request the Carrier in writing by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or by personal delivery evidenced by receipt, to accord him a hearing. Upon receipt of such

request the Carrier shall set a date for hearing, which shall be held within ten (10) calendar days of the date of receipt of request therefor. Notice of the date set for hearing shall be promptly given the employee in writing with copy to the Organization, by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or by personal delivery evidenced by receipt. A representative of the Organization shall attend and participate in the hearing. The receipt by the Carrier of the request for a hearing shall operate to stay action on the termination of employment until the hearing is held and the decision of the Carrier is rendered.

In the event the employee concerned, does not request a hearing as provided herein, the Carrier shall proceed to terminate his seniority and employment under the Rules and Working Conditions Agreement not later than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of the above described notice from the Organization, unless the Carrier and the Organization agree otherwise in writing.

(b) The Carrier shall determine on the basis of the evidence produced at the hearing whether or not the employee has complied with the terms of this Agreement and shall render a decision within twenty (20) calendar days from the date that the hearing is closed, and the employee and the Organization shall be promptly advised thereof in writing by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested.

If the decision is that the employee has not complied with the terms of this Agreement, his seniority and employment under the Rules and Working conditions Agreement shall be terminated within twenty (20) calendar days of the date of said decision except as hereinafter provided or unless the Carrier and the Organization agree otherwise in writing.

If the decision is not satisfactory to the employee or to the Organization it may be appealed in writing, by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, directly to the highest officer of the Carrier designated to handle appeals under this Agreement. Such appeals must be received by such officer within ten calendar days of the date of the decision appealed from and shall operate to stay action on the termination of seniority and employment, until the decision on appeal is rendered, the Carrier shall promptly notify the other party in writing of any such appeal by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested. The decision on such appeal shall be rendered within twenty (20) calendar days of the date the notice to appeal is received, and the employee and the Organization shall be promptly advised thereof in writing by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested.

If the decision on such appeal is that the employee has not complied with the terms of this Agreement, his seniority and employment under the Rules and Working Conditions Agreement shall be terminated within twenty calendar days of the date of said decision unless selection of a neutral is requested as provided below, or unless the Carrier and the Organization agree otherwise in writing. The decision on appeal shall be final and binding unless within ten (10) calendar days from the date of the decision the Organization or the employee involved requests the selection of a neutral person to decide the dispute as provided in Section 5(c) below. Any request for selection of a neutral person as provided in Section 5(c) below shall operate to stay action on the termination of seniority and

- employment until not more than ten calendar days from the date decision is rendered by the neutral person.
- (c) If within ten (10) calendar days after the date of a decision on appeal by the highest officer of the Carrier designated to handle appeals under this Agreement the Organization or the employee involved requests such highest officer in writing by Registered or Certified Mail. Return Receipt Requested, that a neutral be appointed to decide the dispute, a neutral person to act as sole arbitrator to decide the dispute shall be selected by the highest officer of the Carrier designated to handle appeals under this Agreement or his designated representative, the Chief Executive of the Organization or his designated representative. and the employee involved or his representative. If they are unable to agree upon the selection of a neutral person any one of them may request the Chairman of the National Mediation Board in writing to appoint such neutral. The Carrier, the Organization and the employee involved shall have the right to appear and present evidence at a hearing before such neutral arbitrator. Any decision by such neutral arbitrator shall be made within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of receipt of the request for his appointment and shall be final and binding upon the parties. The Carrier, the employee, and the Organization shall be promptly advised thereof in writing by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested. If the position of the employee is sustained, the fees, salary and expenses of the neutral arbitrator shall be borne in equal shares by the Carrier and the Organization; if the employee's position is not sustained, such fees, salary and expenses shall be borne in equal shares by the Carrier, the Organization and the employee.
- (d) The time periods specified in this section may be extended in individual cases by written agreement between the Carrier and Organization.
- (e) Provisions of investigation and discipline rules contained in the Rules and Working Conditions Agreement between the Carrier and the Organization will not apply to cases arising under this Agreement.
- (f) The General Chairman of the Organization shall notify the Carrier in writing of the title(s) and address(es) of its representatives who are authorized to serve and receive the notices described in this Agreement. The Carrier shall notify the General Chairman of the Organization in writing of the title(s) and address(es) of its representatives who are authorized to receive and serve the notices described in this Agreement.
- (g) In computing the time periods specified in this Agreement, the date on which a notice is received or decision rendered shall not be counted.

#### Section 6.

Other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Carrier shall not be required to terminate the employment of an employee until such time as a qualified replacement is available. The Carrier may not, however, retain such employee in service under the provisions of this section for a period in excess of sixty (60) calendar days from the date of the last decision rendered under the provisions of Section 5, or ninety (90) calendar days from date of receipt of

notice from the Organization in cases where the employee does not request a hearing. The employee whose employment is extended under the provisions of this section shall not, during such extension, retain or acquire any seniority rights. The position will be advertised as vacant under the bulletining rules of the respective agreements but the employee may remain on the position he held at the time of the last decision, or at the date of receipt of notice where no hearing is requested pending the assignment of the successful applicant, unless displaced or unless the position is abolished. The above periods may be extended by agreement between the Carrier and the Organization involved.

#### Section 7.

An employee whose seniority and employment under the Rules and Working Conditions Agreement is terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or whose employment is extended under Section 6 shall not have time or money claims by reason thereof.

If the final determination under Section 5 of this Agreement is that an employee's seniority and employment in a craft or class shall be terminated, no liability against the Carrier in favor of the Organization or other employees based upon an alleged violation, mis-application of non-compliance with any part of this Agreement shall arise or accrue during the period up to the expiration of the sixty (60) or ninety (90) day periods specified in Section 6, or while such determination may be stayed by a court, or while a discharged employee may be restored to service pursuant to judicial determination. During such periods, no provision or any other agreement between the parties hereto shall be used as the basis for a grievance or time or money claim by or on behalf of any employee against the Carrier predicated upon any action taken by the Carrier in applying or complying with this Agreement or upon an alleged violation, mis-application or non-compliance with any provision of this Agreement. If the final determination under Section 5 of this Agreement is that an employee's employment and seniority shall not be terminated, his continuance in service shall give rise to no liability against the Carrier in favor of the Organization or other employees based upon an alleged violation, mis-application or non-compliance with any part of this Agreement.

#### Section 8.

In the event that seniority and employment under the Rules and Working Conditions Agreement is terminated by the Carrier under the provisions of this Agreement, and such termination of seniority and employment is subsequently determined to be improper, unlawful, or unenforceable, the Organization shall indemnify and save harmless the Carrier against any and all liability arising as the result of such improper, unlawful, or unenforceable termination of seniority and employment: Provided further, that the aforementioned liability shall not extend to the expense to the Carrier in defending suits by employees whose seniority and employment are terminated by the Carrier under the provisions of this Agreement.

#### Section 9.

An employee whose employment is terminated as a result of non-compliance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be regarded as having terminated his employee relationship for vacation purposes.

#### Section 10.

The Carrier shall periodically deduct from the wages of employees subject to this Agreement periodic dues, and initiation fees, uniformly required as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership in such Organization, and shall pay the amount so deducted to such officer of the Organization as the Organization shall designate: Provided, however, that the requirements of this Subsection (a) shall not be effective with respect to any individual employee until he shall have furnished the Carrier with a written assignment to the Organization of such membership dues, initiation fees and assessments, which assignment shall be revocable in writing after the expiration of one year or upon the termination of this Agreement which ever occurs sooner.

#### APPENDIX 3

#### UNION DUES DEDUCTION AGREEMENT

#### Section 1.

- (a) The Company shall, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, periodically withhold and deduct sums for monthly membership dues and assessments (not including fines and penalties) uniformly required as a condition of retaining union membership, due the Brotherhood from the wages due and payable to employees working under agreements between the Company and the Brotherhood, who are members of the Brotherhood, and who have so authorized the Company by signed authorizations.
- (b) The Brotherhood shall assume the full responsibility for the procurement and proper execution of said authorization forms, and for delivery of said forms to the Company no later than the first day of the second payroll period of the month from which the deductions are to be made. Likewise, revocation of authorization forms shall be delivered by the Brotherhood to the Company not later than the first day of the second payroll period of the month in which termination of deductions is to take place.

#### Section 2.

- (a) Deductions, as provided herein, shall be made by the Company in accordance with a master deduction list prepared by the General Secretary-Treasurer of the Brotherhood, listing each affected employee in employee number order. Such list, together with authorization forms, shall be furnished to the Company on or before the first day of the month preceding the month in which deductions are to take effect under the provisions of this Agreement.
- (b) Thereafter, any deletions or additions to the master deduction list, or any changes in the amounts to be deducted from the wages of employees, shall be furnished to the Company not later than the first day of the second payroll period of the month in which such changes are to be made, such information to be accompanied by the proper authorization or revocation forms. Any changes shall be given to the Company not later than the first day of the second payroll period of the month on a copy of the list the Company will furnish the General Secretary-Treasurer, which is referred to in Section 4 of this Agreement.

#### Section 3.

- (a) Deductions will be made from the wages earned in the second payroll period of the month in which the aforementioned certified statements are furnished to the Company.
- (b) The following payroll deductions will have priority over deductions in favor of the Brotherhood as covered by this Agreement:
  - 1) Federal, state and municipal taxes.

- 2) Deductions required by law and court orders, including garnishments, liens and other wage assignments which the Company must respect.
- 3) Amounts due the Company.
- 4) Group insurance premiums.
- (c) If the earnings of any employee, after all deductions having priority have been made, are insufficient to remit the full amount of deductions authorized by the employee, no deduction for union dues or assessments shall be made by the Company from the wages of the employee and the Company shall not be responsible for such collection. In cases where no deduction is made from the wages of an employee due to insufficient earnings, or for other reasons, the amounts not deducted shall not be added to the deduction lists nor will that deduction be made for the employee in any subsequent payroll period.
- (d) Responsibility of the Company under this Agreement shall be limited to remitting to the Brotherhood amounts actually deducted from the wages of employees pursuant to this Agreement. The Company shall not be responsible financially or otherwise for failure to make deductions or for making improper or inaccurate deductions. Any questions arising as to the correctness of the amounts deducted shall be handled between the employee involved and the General Chairman, and any complaints against the Company in connection therewith shall be handled with the Company by the General Chairman. Nothing herein shall be construed as obligating the Company to collect any dues or assessments from employees who leave its service, or who give up membership in the Brotherhood for any reason, or whose wages shall be involved in any claim or litigation of any nature whatsoever.

#### Section 4.

The Company will remit to the union official designated by the General Chairman the amounts due the Brotherhood deducted from the wages of members, making such remittance not later than the last day of the month following the month from which the deductions are made. The Company will, at the time of such remission, furnish the designated union officer a list of the employees, in employee

number order, from whom deductions where made, showing the amount of such deductions.

#### Section 5.

Except for remitting to the Brotherhood monies deducted from the wages of employees, as described in Section 4 hereof, the Brotherhood shall indemnify, defend and save harmless the Company from and against any and all claims, demands, liability, loss or damage resulting from the entering into this Agreement or arising or growing out of any dispute or litigation from any deductions made by the Company from the wages of its employees for or on behalf of the Brotherhood.

## Section 6.

- (a) This Agreement is subject to the provisions of the applicable federal and state laws now in existence or enacted in the future.
- (b) This Agreement is subject to immediate cancellation by written notice to the General Chairman of the Brotherhood if the Company is required by federal law or the law of any state in which it operates, to change its pay date or payroll procedures in such a manner as to make dues deduction an unreasonable burden.
- (c) This Agreement shall be automatically terminated as of the date official notification is received from the National Mediation Board of a change in the representation of employees now represented by the Brotherhood signatory to this Agreement, or upon termination of the rules and working conditions agreement between the parties.

#### Section 7.

No part of this Agreement shall be used in any manner whatsoever, directly or indirectly, as a basis for a grievance (except as provided in Section 3(d)) or time claim by or on behalf of an employee.

#### **APPENDIX 4**

# PHYSICAL DISQUALIFICATION

For those employees who are physically disqualified by the Chief Medical Officer and who disagree with the findings, the following procedure is established:

- 1) When an employee is found by the Chief Medical Officer to be physically disqualified, he shall be notified in writing by the Chief Medical Officer the specific Medical reasons for the findings. If the employee questions the findings he or his representative shall, within thirty (30) days of his notification of physical disqualification, notify the highest officer of the Company designated to handle claims and grievances in writing of an appeal and submit to the Chief Medical Officer a statement of medical evidence from the physician or the employee's choice attesting to his meeting the Company's physical standards with respect to those matters on which he was found disqualified. Should the Chief Medical Officer continue of the opinion that the employee does not meet the Company's physical standards, he shall notify the employee in writing within fifteen (15) days. If the Chief Medical Officer agrees that the employee met the Company's physical standards at the time of disqualification, the employee will be made whole for wages lost.
- 2) Should the employee disagree with the Chief Medical Officer's decision following the latter's review of the medical evidence presented, he or his representative may, provided he does so within fifteen days after receipt of the decision, request a three-doctor panel, which shall be established as promptly as possible after receipt of his request. The panel shall be composed of a doctor of the employee's choice, a doctor of the Company's choice and a third doctor selected by the other two. The partisan doctors may present to the third doctor any evidence bearing on the dispute they consider pertinent. The panel shall determine within thirty days of its establishment whether the employee's physical condition meets the Company's standards. A majority decision shall govern.
- 3) Expenses involved in the application of the rule will be handled by the Company paying its doctor, the employee paying the doctor of his choice, and the expenses of the their doctor including such x-rays, laboratory examinations, as he may require being divided equally between the Company and the employee involved.
- 4) An employee returned to service on the basis of the decision of the three-doctor panel will be made whole as to wages lost due to disqualification in the event the three-doctor panel concludes his condition did not warrant disqualification at the time of disqualification.
- 5) Should the three-doctor panel find the employee physically disqualified, the employee may, when he considers his physical condition warrants, invoke again the procedures outlined hereinbefore except that he shall not do so earlier than one

hundred (120) days after the decision of the three-doctor panel. If the employee's physical condition has improved to the extent he is found to meet the Company's standards, he will be physically qualified to return to work but will not be made whole for loss of earnings incurred during the period of disability.

6) In the event the employee or his representative does not appeal the Chief Medical Officer's decision within the time limit specified herein, he shall be considered as having accepted the decision until the time he again presents himself for examination by the Company doctor, in which event the procedure described hereinabove shall be followed.

NOTE: If the Company does not appoint a Chief Medical Officer, the doctor designated by the Company shall function under this supplement.

# **APPENDIX 5**

# WAIVER OF HEARING

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	_and agrees to	o accep	n me iom	owing a	iscipiine.		
			7 16					
					•			
					·			
NOTE: This for shall be	m is not to be stated in full i	used when an n the space pr	emplo ovided	yee is dis above pr	missed. ior to a	The disc cceptance	cipline to be by the emp	e assessed oloyee.
					:	a <sup>r</sup>		
		•			÷			
Employee Name								•
Employee Name								
								÷
						•		
					*	-		
Approved By:								
	.*			•				
Company Repres	antativa	***************************************	•					
Company Repres	citative		* 1					
		•				•		
Witness:			•			* •		
·		•		•	*.	•	• •	
A sythesized D	4_4.	<del></del>		•	•			
Authorized Repre	esentative		٠				•	
			-					
;								• .

#### APPENDIX 6

## QUESTIONS & ANSWERS REGARDING BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- Q-1: How are the three (3) calendar days to be determined?
- A-1: An employee will have the following options in deciding when to take bereavement leave:
  - (a) Three (3) consecutive calendars days, commencing with the day of death, when the death occurs prior to the time an employee is scheduled to report for duty;
  - (b) Three (3) consecutive calendar days, ending the day of the funeral service; or
  - (c) Three (3) consecutive calendar days, ending the day following the funeral service.
- Q-2: Does the three (3) calendar days allowance pertain to each separate instance, or do the three (3) calendar days refer to a total of all instances?
- A-2: Three (3) days for each separate death; however, there is no pyramiding where a second death occurs within the three-day period covered by the first death.

  EXAMPLE: Employee has a workweek of Monday to Friday off days of Saturday and Sunday. His mother dies on Monday and his father dies on Tuesday. At the maximum, the employee would be eligible for bereavement leave on Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday.
- Q-3: An employee working from an extra board is granted bereavement leave on Wednesday, Thursday and Friday. Had he not taken bereavement leave he would have been available on the extra board, but would not have performed service on one of the days on which leave was taken. Is he eligible for two days or three days of bereavement pay?
- A-3: A maximum of two (2) days.
- Q-4: Shall a day on which a basic day's pay is allowed account bereavement leave serve as a qualifying day for holiday pay purposes?
- A-4: No; however, the parties are in accord that bereavement leave non-availability should be considered the same as vacation non-availability and that the first work day preceding or following the employee's bereavement leave, as the case may be, should be considered as the qualifying day for holiday purposes.
- Q-5: Shall an employee be entitled to be reavement leave in connection with the death of a half-brother or half-sister, step-brother or step-sister, step-parents or step-children?
- A-5: Yes, as to half-brother or half-sister, stepparents or stepchildren, No, as to step-brother or stepsister. However, the rule is applicable to a family relationship covered by the rule through the legal adoption process.
- Q-6: Shall bereavement leave payment be applicable when an employee is entitled to vacation period?
- A-6: No.

- Q-7: An employee qualifies for holiday pay on a holiday which occurs on a day the employee also qualifies for bereavement leave pay. Under these circumstances, is the employee entitled to be paid both the holiday and bereavement leave allowance?
- A-7: No. The employee would be entitled to only one basic day's pay.

J. Michael Perry General Chairman IAMAW 9502 Petros Highway Petros, TN 37845

Dear Sirs:

This confirms our understanding regarding certain issues related to the January 2013 Labor Agreement between the APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers.

Discussion of a waiver pursuant to Rule 30(a) shall not constitute an admission of guilt by the employee or prejudgment by the Company and may not be made part of the hearing record.

Mechanics assigned to work on holidays may be assigned to perform any function necessary to avoid delay to train movements. It is understood that holiday work will be distributed in an equitable manner.

Please indicate your concurrence with the understandings described above by signing this letter in the appropriate space below.

Sincerely,

BAL

B. L. Nichol, General Manager

AGREED:

J. Michael Perry, General Chairman

J. Michael Perry General Chairman IAMAW 9502 Petros Highway Petros, TN 37845

Dear Sirs:

This confirms our understanding regarding certain issues related to the January 2013 Labor Agreement between the APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers.

It is the goal of the parties to provide for agreements that accommodate the requirements of the employees, the Company, and customers. Accordingly, APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the Organizations shall meet periodically to discuss and evaluate the labor agreements and their application.

Please indicate your concurrence with the arrangements described above by signing this letter in the appropriate space below.

Sincerely,

B. L. Nichol, General Manager

**AGREED:** 

J./Michael Perry, General Chairman

J. Michael Perry General Chairman IAMAW 9502 Petros Highway Petros, TN 37845

Dear Sirs:

This confirms our understanding regarding certain issues related to the January 2013 Labor Agreement between the APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers.

It is understood the A&O Railroad will employ a sufficient number of Mechanics to handle the Company's normal requirements of service and will meet with the party signatory hereto, if requested to do so, for the purpose of discussing the numbers of each craftsmen employed, the assignment of work, etc.

It is understood the Company will not use "contracting out" as a means to furlough regular employees. The Carrier does have a right to engage outside contractors to meet requirements of service that cannot be met with regular assigned employees.

A&O will provide advance notice to the Organization prior to subcontracting in non-emergency situations. Upon request, a conference will be arranged to discuss Company subcontracting plans to determine if such work can be performed on the property by employees of the A&O.

Sincerely,

B. L. Nichol, General Manager

AGREED:

Michael Perry, General Chairman

J. Michael Perry General Chairman IAMAW 9502 Petros Highway Petros, TN 37845

Dear Sirs:

This confirms our understanding regarding related to Rule 29, Health & Welfare in the January 2013 Labor Agreement between the APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers.

A&O Railroad will not arbitrarily increase benefit levels of employees covered by other collective bargaining agreements without affording the IAMAW such benefits on an equal basis.

Sincerely,

B. L. Nichol, General Manager

AGREED:

J. Michael Perry, General Chairman

J. Michael Perry General Chairman IAMAW 9502 Petros Highway Petros, TN 37845

Dear Sirs:

This confirms our understanding regarding reached by the parties during labor negotiations on July 18, 2012, regarding changes in the health care benefits and co-pays as set forth in Attachment "A" to the January 2013 Labor Agreement between the APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers.

It was understood and agreed that the changes set forth in Attachment "A" will only become effective when such changes are implemented for all employees of the Carrier.

Sincerely,

B. L. Nichol, General Manager

AGREED:

J. Michael Perry, General Chairman

J. Michael Perry General Chairman IAMAW 9502 Petros Highway Petros, TN 37845

Dear Sirs:

In connection with the January 2013 Labor Agreement between the APPALACHIAN AND OHIO RAILROAD, INC. and the International Association of Machinists & Aerospace Workers, I assured you of the following:

- 1. The A&O will make "ice water" available to employees at their headquarters location.
- 2. It is not the intent of the A&O to change "past practices" on eating.

Sincerely,

Bi-LI

B. L. Nichol, General Manager

AGREED:

. Michael Perry, General Chairman

#### ATTACHMENT "A"

The benefit levels of the current health and welfare agreement will remain in full force and effect subject to the following changes and/or amendments provided for in this ATTACHMENT "A".

<sub>o</sub> (a) The employee's current monthly pre-tax contribution rate of \$100.00 per month shall be increased as follows:

July 1, 2013 \$150.00 per month

- (b) The PPO Plan requires employees to utilize providers within the network of the Plan. If an employee chooses to utilize a provider outside of the network, such employee will be subject to penalties requiring the employee to pay 40% of the covered charges and the Plan shall pay 60%. Employees utilizing network providers will pay twenty (20%) percent of the covered charges and the Plan shall pay eighty (80%) percent.
- (c) Employees shall be required to meet an annual deductible as follows:

IN NETWORK:	Current	07/01/13
<ol> <li>Individual</li> <li>Family</li> </ol>	\$ 500.00 \$1,000.00	\$ 600.00 \$1,200.00
OUT OF NETWORK	Current	07/01/13
<ol> <li>Individual</li> <li>Family</li> </ol>	\$1,000.00 \$2,000.00	\$1,200.00 \$2,400.00

(d) Prescription Drugs: An employee shall be required to utilize the prescription drug plan provided in the agreement. The new co-payment for the drugs is as follows:

Current	07/01/13	
\$15.00	\$25.00	
\$25.00	\$35.00	
\$35.00	\$45.00	
Current	07/01/13	
\$30.00	\$40.00	
\$50.00	\$60.00	
	\$15.00 \$25.00 \$35.00 Current \$30.00	

3. Brand Name Non-Formulary	\$70.00	\$80.00
OUT OF POCKET LIMITS:		
IN NETWORK	Current	7/01/13
Individual Family	\$1,500.00 \$3,000.00	\$1,500.00 \$3,000.00
OUT OF NETWORK	Current	07/01/13
Individual Family	\$3,000.00 \$6,000.00	\$3,000.00 \$6,000.00